
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - CABINET 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 7 September 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

Venue - Function Room, South Holland Centre, Market 
Place, Spalding, PE11 1SS 

 
 

Membership of the Cabinet: 
 
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), P E Coupland (Deputy Leader), C N Worth (Deputy 
Leader), A Casson, H Drury, R Gambba-Jones, R Grocock, C J Lawton, E J Sneath and 
G J Taylor 
 
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 3. 
 

Note:  Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.   
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode 

 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   27 August 2021 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 27 April 2021(copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
5 - 10) 

3.  Declarations of Interest. -  
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.) 
 

 

4.  Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).  
 

 

5.  To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.  
 

 

6.  To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.  
 

 

7.  2020/2021 Financial Outturn -  
To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as 
at 31 March 2021 (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy 
and Partnerships and the Executive Director (Strategy and Resources) 
(S151) enclosed).  
 

(Pages 
11 - 42) 

8.  Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 - Consultation -  
To consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 
2022/23 (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies and 
Partnerships and the Assistant Director Finance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
43 - 48) 

9.  Debt Write Off -  
To seek approval for the write-off of uncollectable debt (report of the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies and Partnerships and the 
Executive Director (Strategy and Resources) (S151) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
49 - 54) 

10.  Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -  
 
 
Note:  (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 
(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 

be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 

Page 2



11.  Exclusion of the Press and Public -  
To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 
of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

12.  Debt Write Off -  
Exempt appendices to the report at agenda item 9 enclosed. 
 

(Pages 
55 - 60) 

13.  Waste Collection Staffing and Critical HGV Driver Shortage -  
To provide an update on the current staffing situation for waste 
collections, including the HGV driver shortage, and to seek approval to 
implement new working arrangements to support ongoing service 
delivery (report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services and 
the Executive Director of Strategy and Resources (s151 Officer) 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
61 - 86) 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 33 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in line with The Local Authorities & Police 
& Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel 
Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 27 April 2021 at 10.00 
am. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
G A Porter (Leader) 

 
P E Coupland (Deputy 
Leader) 
C N Worth (Deputy 
Leader) 
A Casson 
 

R Gambba-Jones 
R Grocock 
C J Lawton 
 

E J Sneath 
G J Taylor 
 

  

Executive Support Members: A C Beal and N H Pepper. 
 
The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Strategic Finance and 
Compliance Manager, the Strategic Housing Manager, the Housing Landlord 
Services Manager, the Housing Services Manager, the Democratic Services Manager 
and the Democratic Services Team Leader. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill, 
J L Reynolds, A M Newton, A R Woolf and T A Carter, together with Lincolnshire 
Community & Voluntary Service and Lincolnshire Police.  
 
In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) 

 
 
 
 Action By 

74. MINUTES   

  

 The minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2021 were 
agreed, and would be signed by the Leader as a correct record as 
soon as reasonably practical after the meeting. 

 

   

75. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.   

  

 Councillor Coupland did not have a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest, but in the interests of transparency, declared that in 
relation to agenda item 10, he was on the Board of Directors of 
Welland Homes Ltd.  He stated that, whilst remaining in the 
meeting, he would take no part in the discussion, or vote on the 
item. 
 
Councillors Sneath and Alcock did not have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, but in the interests of transparency, declared 
that in relation to agenda item 10, that they were on the Board of 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 34 - 
 
CABINET - 27 April 2021 

 

 

Directors of Welland Homes Ltd.   
 
The Leader of the Council declared an interest in relation to 
agenda items 8, 9 and 10, as they related to the purchase of new 
properties, and he had the potential to know the parties involved.  
He would take no part in the discussion, and would leave the 
meeting for consideration of these items. 

   

76. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
 COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

77. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
 TO CALL-IN.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

78. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

79. REVIEW OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS AND LETTINGS 
 POLICY  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
HRA and Private Sector Housing, and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, which sought approval of the revised Housing 
Allocations and Lettings Policy, and advised members of the 
consultation process required to implement the new policy. 
 
The following points were highlighted: 

• The year of the date in section 5.6.2 of the report was 
incorrect – it should read 2020. 

• It was confirmed that the list of allocations not covered by the 
policy, and listed at section 1.8 of Appendix A, were covered 
within the Tenancy Management Policy that had been 
considered by the Cabinet in December 2020. 

 
DECISION: 
 
a) That the revised Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy be 

adopted, subject to formal consultation with partner Registered 
Providers; and 

 
b) That amendments to the appendices of the Policy, and minor 

operational amendments, following consultation with partner 
Registered Providers, be delegated to the Housing Landlord 

 

Page 6



- 35 - 
 
CABINET - 27 April 2021 

 

 

Services Manager, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
HRA and Private Sector Housing. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• To do nothing, and continue to adopt the 2019 policy. 
Reasons for decision: 

• To reflect the changing housing landscape nationally and 
locally, in response to Covid-19 and the Homeless Reduction 
Act; 

• To allow greater numbers of households to join the Register – 
by allowing a greater number of circumstances to qualify by 
partially relaxing qualification criteria, this will provide a truer 
reflection of the housing need in South Holland, and attract 
additional building of social housing in the district, investment 
of funding from Homes England and Registered Providers; 

• To dispel the myth that individuals need to be homeless to be 
housed by the Council, and to support officers advising 
applicants to take responsibility of their own circumstances 
and seek alternative accommodation.  This approach could 
also see a reduction in the number of households making 
declarations as homeless to the authority; and 

• To continue to focus the policy to a vision of ensuring 
allocations for the “Right Person, Right Place, Right Time and 
at the Right Price”.) 

   

80. ACQUISITION OF S106 AFFORDABLE HOUSING FOR THE 
 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Planning and the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which set out details of the 
potential for the authority to acquire eight s106 affordable homes 
on a development site in the district. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of 

eight homes within Surfleet for the HRA; 
 
b) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation 

(S151) to agree the contractual matters (including any terms 
and conditions which may represent a minor variation to the 
scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the 
contract/transfer document and other incidental actions that 
may be required and approving the associated due diligence 
and valuation required to purchase the properties; 

 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 

 

Page 7



- 36 - 
 
CABINET - 27 April 2021 

 

 

c) To amend the Capital Programme to identify the project as an 
approved scheme in the 2021/22 Budget. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing – under this option, the authority would not 
proceed to purchase the properties, and as a consequence, 
the expected benefits listed in Section 9 of the report would 
not be realised.  Officers would seek to identify alternative 
appropriate schemes for consideration. 

Reasons for decision: 

• A return on investment, and the generation of capital receipts 
from the sale of the initial tranche of shared ownership 
properties; 

• The delivery of eight additional dwellings into the HRA; 

• Meeting housing need; 

• The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy; 

• The new homes could be part-funded from the time limited 
Right to Buy receipts; and 

• Market confidence.) 
 
(The Leader left the meeting at the start of consideration of this 
item, and did not return to the meeting). 

   

81. ACQUISITION OF HOUSING FOR THE HOUSING REVENUE 
 ACCOUNT  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Planning and the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer), which set out details of the 
potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build homes for 
Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district. 
 
Officers confirmed that the purchase price had been agreed with 
the developer, that this was below the market value, but that the 
total capital cost to the authority took the price above market 
value.  An appropriate amount for due diligence and on-costs had 
been included in the financial evaluation, and as part of usual 
processes, best value for the authority was being sought, to 
ensure on-costs could be reduced as much as possible. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of 

twelve homes for the HRA; 
 
b) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation 

(S151) to agree the funding and contractual matters (including 
any terms and conditions which may represent a minor 
variation to the scheme approved in the business case) such 

 

Page 8



- 37 - 
 
CABINET - 27 April 2021 

 

 

as signing the contract/transfer document, making an 
application for Homes England grant funding, utilising Right to 
Buy sales receipts for this project and other incidental actions 
that may be required and approving the associated due 
diligence and valuation required to purchase the properties; 

 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
c) To amend the Capital Programme to identify this project as an 

approved scheme in the 2021/22 Budget. 
 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing – under this option, the authority would not 
proceed to purchase the properties, and as a consequence, 
the expected benefits listed in Section 9 of the report would 
not be realised.  Officers would seek to identify alternative 
appropriate schemes for consideration. 

Reasons for decision: 

• A return on investment; 

• The delivery of twelve additional dwellings into the HRA; 

• Meeting housing need; 

• The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy; 

• The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited Right 
to Buy receipts;  

• Alternatively, in lieu of utilising Right to Buy receipts, the new 
homes could be part-funded via Homes England grant 
funding, 

• Additional funding streams will improve the financial 
performance of the project; and  

• Market confidence.) 
   

82. WELLAND HOMES BUSINESS PLAN UPDATE, 
 INCORPORATING HOLBEACH ROAD, SPALDING  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which presented a business 
case to Cabinet, and presented to Council, as sole shareholder 
for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the Company to 
purchase six houses for the purposes of market rental investment 
and an updated Welland Homes Business Plan. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland 

Homes Ltd of six houses, for the purposes of a market rental 
investment; 

 
b) That, subject to the refreshed business plan and budget being 

approved by the Council in accordance with recommendation 

 

Page 9



- 38 - 
 
CABINET - 27 April 2021 

 

 

(c) below, delegated authority be granted to the Executive 
Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to (i) approve 
the terms of any loan agreements required; (ii) approve the 
value and the profile of any periodic cash flow payments to be 
made to the Company, as required to support the Company in 
the acquisition of the proposed investment properties; 

 
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL: 
 
c) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, 

and included as an amendment in the next SHDC Quarterly 
report to members; 

 
d) To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25 

March 2015, to the Executive Director – Commercialisation 
(the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of use of reserves 
and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
(Other options considered: 

• Do nothing – without the approval of the shareholder, Welland 
Homes would be unable to proceed with the proposed 
investment.  This in turn would limit the delivery of housing 
from Welland Homes under the existing Business Plan and 
leave the Company unable to deliver forecasted returns. 

Reasons for decision: 

• Support the delivery of the wider Welland Homes Business 
Plan, which would in turn support the delivery of savings 
targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan; 

• Increase housing supply to address demand; 

• Boost to the local economy; 

• Improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; 

• Generate income for the Council.) 
   

83. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 10.27 am) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 19 May 2021.
 

Page 10



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy & Partnerships and the Executive 

Director - (Strategy and Resources) (S151) 

  

To: Cabinet 7 September 2021 

 South Holland District Council 22 September 2021   

 

Author: Samantha Knowles – Assistant Director - Finance 

  Carl Holland, Strategic Finance Manager (PSPSL) 

 

Subject:  2020/21 Financial Outturn 

 

Purpose: To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 

31 March 2021.  

 

 

 
Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:  
 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted. 
 

2) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5.1 to 5.5.3 and 
Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of this report. 

 
Recommendation(s) to Council:  

 
3) The General Fund Underspend be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve 

 
4) That the General Fund Capital Programme and HRA Capital Programme be approved as 

set out in Section 4 of Appendix A. 
 

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the unaudited 

2019/20 outturn financial position for the following areas: 

• The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF), 

• Housing Revenue Account (HRA), 

• The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position, 

• The Capital Programme for 2020/21 (GF and HRA), and  

• The Treasury Management Performance for the year. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed above. 

 

2.2 Do nothing. 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
3.1 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance in 

2020/21. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 

Financial position. 

 

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond quickly 

to opportunities as they arise. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA, 

Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with 

further detail at Appendix A.  

  

5.2 General Fund Revenue Outturn 

 

5.2.1 The final year actual was an underspend of £125k. Additional Government Grant (£1.340m) 

to help support Councils with budget pressures resulting from the Covid pandemic and 

(£0.407m) compensation for a proportion of income lost in sales, fees and charges has been 

received in the year. It is recommend that the £125k underspend is transferred to the Council 

Tax Reserve. 

 

5.2.2 The revenue outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A - Table 1 together 
with an analysis of service variations. 
 

5.3 Business Rates & S31 Grants 
 

5.3.1 As a result of the Covid pandemic, the Government announced expanded NNDR relief for 
Retail, Hospitality, Leisure and Nurseries, which totalled around £8m for South Holland. 
Government have fully recompensed Councils for this lost income through NNDR S31 
grants received in 2020/21. 

 
5.3.2 In addition, the Government adopted 75% income compensation schemes for lost income 

in 2020/21 relating to irrecoverable Council Tax and Business Rates (NNDR), with values 
calculated at the end of the financial year and recognised in the 2020/21 financial year. 

 

Page 12



5.3.3 Both these reliefs and irrecoverable income create a deficit to the council through lost 

NNDR and Council Tax income. Due to accounting rules, the surplus or deficit on Council 

Tax (£17k surplus) and NNDR income (£4.072m deficit) are recognised in the following 

year (i.e. 2021/22), and are therefore reversed out of the Retained Business Rates figure 

below, however, the income compensation was paid in the 2020/21 financial year. The 

Council approved at its meeting on 3 March 2021, that these grants be carried forward in 

full to the 2021/22 financial year to cover the deficits recognised. 

 
Budget 

£’000 

Outturn 

£’000 

Variance 

£'000 

Retained Business Rates (3,493) (3,517) (24) 

     

Section 31 Grant due in 20/21 (1,252) (5,257) (4,005) 

Transfer to Earmarked Grants 

Reserve relating to S31 Grant - 4,005  4,005  

 
 
 
5.4 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn 

 

5.4.1 The HRA has delivered a total surplus budget of (£3.019m), a favourable forecast of 

(£471k), detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2. 

 

5.5  Reserves (GF and HRA) 

 

5.5.1 The Council approved changes at its meetings in the year resulting in an increased actual 
use of reserves £1.314m (due in the main to transfer funding of £1.1m to the Food 
Enterprise Zone). As explained at 5.3.3 above, the reserves have also received a 
contribution of grant earmarked for use in 2021/22 of £4.005m. The actual net contribution 
to reserves for 2020/21 is (£3.403m) with further detail shown in Appendix A – Table 3. 
 

5.5.2 In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.   

 

5.5.3 The HRA General Reserve balance has delivered an overall increase of £3.787m from 

£23.595m to £27.382m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 4. 

 

 

5.6 Capital – General Fund 

 

5.6.1 The total General Fund Capital Programme for 2020/21 was £9.221 all of which had 

received specific scheme approval. Compared to the approved budged the in-year spend 

totalled £7.633m, giving an underspend of £1.588m. 

 

Page 13



5.6.2 Appendix A – Table 6 provides more information on the 2020/21 General Fund capital 

outturn position, how it was funded and the variances from budget. Table 7 provides details 

of the revised 2021/22 capital programme as a result of required rollover of underspent 

budgets. 

 

5.6.3 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2021/22 General Fund Capital 

Programme, as set out at Appendix A table 6, of £9.221m. 

 

5.6.4 During 2021/22 there may be new emerging capital project funding requirements. Any 

required amendments to the capital programme will be presented in the Quarterly reports 

during 2021/22. 

 

5.7 Capital – HRA 

 

5.7.1 The total HRA Capital programme for 2020/21 was £6.377m all of which had received specific 

scheme approval. Against this approved budget in-year spend totalled £4.912m, an 

underspend of £1.465m. Appendix A Table 9. 

 

5.7.2 It is recommended that Council approves the revised 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme, as 

set out at Appendix A table 9, of £6.377m. 

 

6 Treasury Management. 

 

6.1.1 Appendix A - Section 5 provides information on the investments held by the Council at 31 

March 2020 (£50.7m). The average investments held during the year were £50.66m. 

 

6.1.2 Interest earned on investments in 2020/21 was £325k (compared to the budget of £544k). 

 

6.1.3 Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position.  More information on 

Treasury Management is available in the Treasury Annual Report which was considered by 

Governance and Audit Committee on 29 July 2021, and will be considered by Full Council 

on 22 September 2021. 

 

7 Statement of Accounts. 

 

7.1.1 The unaudited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2021 have 

been provided to the Council’s auditors (Ernst Young), with the audit due to commence in 

October 2021. 

 

7.1.2 The unaudited Statement of Accounts was published on the Council’s website on 30 July 

2021 for public inspection, in line with The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.   

 

7.1.3 The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

 

8 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

Page 14



 

8.1.1 Income and expenditure affects all wards of the Council. 

 

9 ACRONYMS 

 

9.1.1 GF   General Fund 

HRA  Housing Revenue Account 

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

MTFS   Medium term Financial Strategy  

 

 

Background papers: The 2020/21 Estimates Report to Council 26 February 2020 

 Q1 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 15 September 2020 

 Q2 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 27 October 2020 

 Q3 Outturn 2020/21 to Cabinet 16 February 2021 

 

 

Lead Contact Officer: 

Name and Post: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance   

Telephone Number 01775 764684 

Email: SKnowles@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

 

Exempt Decision: No 

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Financial report for 2020/21 with details of the GF and HRA revenue 

spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management. 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 1 of 25 

South Holland District Council 
Financial report for the Period ended 31 March 2021 

 
This report has five sections 

• Section 1 –  General Fund Revenue budget 

• Section 2 -   HRA Budget 

• Section 3 –  Reserves 

• Section 4 -   Capital budget 

• Section 5 –  Treasury update 
 

Section 1 – General Fund 
 
Outturn Summary: 
 
The total General Fund (GF) budget requirement for the year was £12,552k as approved by Council 
on 26 February 2020. 
 
The final GF outturn position is an underspend of (£125k) (Table 1). This position required some 
support from reserves for unplanned expenditure. The use of reserves to support the budget is 
detailed at Table 4. The significant variances from budget that have contributed to the GF outturn 
position are detailed in the notes to Table 1 below. 
 
 
Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn 
 

Directorate 

N
o

te
 

Budget 
£'000 

Actual  
£'000 

Variance 
Pressure / 

(Favourable)  
£'000 

Commercialisation         
Commercialisation 1 389 300 (89) 
Economic Development 2 114 181 67 
Finance 3 1,215 1,269 54 
Revenues and Benefits 4 379 686 307 
          

Commercialisation Total   2,097 2,436 339 

          

Place         
Asset and Property 5 284 242 (42) 
Building Control 6 (24) 11 35 
Communities 7 996 1,379 383 
Housing 8 510 267 (243) 
Environmental Services 9 3,803 4,134 331 
Planning 10 2 (288) (290) 
Spalding Special Expenses   64 64 0 
Investment Properties 11 (186) (155) 31 
Public Protection 12 441 434 (7) 
Town Centre Improvement Programme   0 0 0 

Page 17



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 2 of 25 

          

Place Total   5,890 6,088 198 

          

Strategy & Governance         
Corporate Improvement and Performance 13 165 173 8 
Communications 14 146 182 36 
Corporate Management 15 583 662 79 
Democratic Services 16 1,025 1,078 53 
HR 17 348 323 (25) 
ICT and Customer Services 18 1,281 1,216 (65) 
Environmental Health Consultancy UK 19 39 60 21 
          

Strategy & Governance Total   3,587 3,694 107 

          
          
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services   (1,962) (1,967) (5) 
          
          
Internal Drainage Boards and Parish Precepts   3,457 3,457 0 
Interest Payable and Similar Charges   0 0 0 
Interest Receivable and Similar Income 20 (383) (246) 137 
Increase/(Decrease) in impairment allowance 21 86 60 (26) 
Transfer to/from earmarked reserves   773 773 0 
Efficiencies Requirement 22 (993) (76) 917 
          

Total Cost of Services   12,552 14,219 1,667 

          

Financing         

          
Government Grants 23 (2,754) (2,762) (8) 
Council Tax   (6,305) (6,318) (13) 
Retained Business Rates 24 (3,493) (3,517) (24) 
Local Authority COVID Support Grant     (1,747) (1,747) 

Total Financing   (12,552) (14,344) (1,792) 

          

Underspend transferred to reserves     (125) (125) 

 
Notes to Table 1: 
 
Significant variances are detailed in the notes below. 
 
Commercialisation and Growth 
 

1. Commercialisation (£89k) favourable. 

• Saving for shared planning policy service with Boston Borough Council (£41k). 

• Favourable saving of (£129k) for employment costs arising from vacant posts in Planning 
Policy. 

Page 18



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 3 of 25 

• Delivery Unit has an income pressure of £55k for additional Industrial Units, works which 
have been reprofiled to future years. £13k spend of Covid compliance activity. 

• Additional spend on professional services to support responsive maintenance of assets and 
property £13k. 
 

2. Economic Development £67k pressure. 
Staff resources have diverted away from Grants for Growth work towards Covid-19 Business 
Support grant. This resource was budgeted to be funded by Grants for Growth grant £34k. 
Additional resource was needed to provide support for business covid grants £33k. 
 

3. Finance £54k pressure. 

• Additional costs for administering the distribution of business support grants by the PSPS 
Revenues and Finance Services £66k. 

• Reduction in additional pension costs (£16k) 

• Additional External Audit costs Covid-19 related £8k adverse. 

• Overspend on Insurance and Asset Valuation services £13k. 

• Internal audit fees over accrued from 2019/20 (£14k) 
 

4. Revenues and Benefits £307k pressure. 

• Council Tax Collection - Court income was nil whilst lockdown was in effect and courts were 
not sitting. Courts have since been held, achieving income of £142k an adverse variance of 
£96k. 

• Housing Benefit Overpayments recovery income was budgeted to be £350k, increasingly 
benefits are being administered by the Department for Work and Pensions under Universal 
Credit and as a result the income forecast from overpayments has reduced to £113k, an 
adverse variance of £236k. 

• Actual subsidy received was (£25k) more than that which had been budgeted. 
 

Place 
 

5. Assets and Property (£42k) favourable. 

• Estimated utility savings for vacant premises during pandemic (£12k).  

• Rent income pressure £16k, in respect of garage income. 

• Priory Road Covid Secure installations £2k. (£10k) saving on furniture and equipment 
budget. 

• (£22k) underspend on programmed and responsive maintenance budget. 

• Vacant posts (16k) 
 

6. Building Control £35k pressure. 

• Building Control Fee and Consultancy income an adverse impact on income of £6k. 

• Land charges – reduction in income of £29k and due to a change in service demand an 
increase in professional fees £5k. 

• Salary efficiency target adverse £13k. 

• Mileage savings (£3k). 

• Building maintenance savings (£4k) 

• Other various supplies and service savings (£10k). 
 

7. Communities £383k pressure. 

Page 19



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 4 of 25 

• Grant from the Arts Council for England has resulted in achievement of budget for the South 
Holland Centre with variances of £16k reported for unachieved salary efficiency savings and 
£4k for Covid compliance costs. 

• Leisure management support costs have resulted in an adverse variance of £451k as a 
result of temporary closure in compliance with pandemic guidelines, which has been funded 
from support grant and Covid-19 grant, this also includes costs for implementing safer 
opening measures. 

• Net saving of (£44k) from temporary closure to the public of Ayscoughfee Museum and 
Gardens. 

• Community Cohesion has an adverse outturn of £17k as a result of spend on Street 
marshals for safer high streets £8, funded from Covid-19 grant, reduced court cost income 
£5k and £4k for legal costs. 

• Due to non-delivery of cultural and sports events a favourable movement of (£58k) is 
forecast. 

 
8. Housing (£243k) Favourable. 

• Unbudgeted recovery of fees for administering Disabled Facilities Grants (£43k) favourable 
movement. 

• Unplanned income from enforcement of improvement orders (£11k), licence fees (£3k) and 
other court income (£3k). 

• Unbudgeted repairs to homelessness accommodation £43k. 

• Employee savings (£27k). 

• Net saving on Homelessness budget (£165k). 

• Additional Homelessness grant received (£64k). 

• Additional private sector housing maintenance costs £20k. 

• Additional Covid response cost for travellers sites £3k. 
 

9. Environmental Services £331k pressure. 

• As reported at quarter 3 there has been a cost of additional freighters £59k and crew £50k 
to provide COVID-19 safe operating environment for waste collection service plus £13k for 
protective equipment.  

• Employee costs are (£82k) less than budgeted. In quarter 1 the pandemic impacted 
Environmental Services through lockdown and shielding. Crews have responded to ensure 
delivery of vital services. There has been a reduction in non-Covid related sickness and a 
reduction in the holiday taken in 2020/21. This along with the new Covid safe working patterns 
has meant that the budgeted spend to cover holiday and sickness for this financial year has 
been less than expected.  

• Cleaning materials and cleaning staff £18k for Council facilities as a result of the extended 
pandemic lockdown. 

• A reduction in car parking income of £309k has occurred as a result of the charge free 
period in quarter 1 and potential reduction in ticket purchases due to COVID-19.  

• Reduction in car park income processing fees of (£8k) due to reduced car parking fees paid 
by cash. 

• The outturn for Market operations has resulted in an adverse variance of £83k as a result of 
the free market period and revision to fees 1st April - 30th September. 

• Environmental Service operations have benefited from a reduction in fuel price resulting in a 
favourable outturn of (£49k). Vehicle maintenance costs offset this benefit by £35k and 
Insurance excess is an adverse cost of £7k. 

Page 20



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 5 of 25 

• Additional income has been achieved for Garden waste of (£36k) and Special collections 
(£31k). Garden waste additional staffing costs are £11k and Pride in South Holland spend 
on agency staff rose by £31k to ensure continuity of service whilst complying with Covid 
Lockdown and isolation requirements throughout the year. 

• Bus Station income reduction of £3k as a result of reduced service levels during the 
pandemic 

• Other supplies and Professional service saving of (£52k) in Grounds maintenance were 
achieved. 

• Refuse Collection reduced spend by (£9k) on professional fees and Street Cleansing 
achieved a further (£9k) of charges to other organisations. 
 

10. Planning (£290k) favourable. 

• Planning Application Fees have improved since last reported following an increase in the 
number of applications and the receipt in December of a major application, the service has 
achieved a favourable variance of (£190k) after transferring £100k to reserves. 

• Staff posts held vacant achieved a (£60k) saving. 

• Spend on agency and professional fees are favourable by (£29k). 

• Forecast agency staff saving (£5k) and a (£23k) reduction in supplier charges. A favourable 
movement of (£15k). 

• Other savings include (£9k) of legal fees and (£4k) of officer travel costs. 
 

11. Investment Properties £31k pressure. 

• Reduction of £31k income from Industrial units as a result of pause on lease renewals during 
Pandemic and void premises. 
 

12. Public Protection (£7k) favourable. 

• Licensing Act income collection has been paused to be recovered later in year. The County 
Council paused the issuing of any new Taxi Licences in the year and collection of other 
licensing income was also paused during the year resulting in an adverse impact on 
budgeted income of £14k.  

• The service has been diverted to supporting Covid-19 enforcement and much of its activities 
have been funded by support grant. This has resulted in other budget underspends 
amounting to (£7k) 

• Savings of (£14k) from reduced travel costs and other reduced spend. 
 

13. Corporate Improvement and Performance £8k pressure. 

• Unbudgeted employee costs of £8k. 
 
Strategy and Governance. 
 

14. Communications £36k pressure. 

• £27k for leaflet drop and COVID awareness measures, funded from Covid-19 grant 

• Unachieved Salary Efficiency target £5k. 
 

15. Corporate Management £79k pressure. 

• Local Government Re-organisation cost of opportunity development £24k. 

• Additional communication costs as a result of Covid-19 compliance and maintaining continuity 
£15k. 

• Employee costs to support Covid-19 response activity £40k. 

Page 21



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 6 of 25 

 
16. Democratic and Legal Services £53k pressure. 

• Covid related legal advice £12k. 

• Unbudgeted legal fee income (£20k) 

• Savings from digital Electoral registration (£30k). 

• Savings from vacant posts (£26k). 

• Savings from Councillor travel restrictions (£10k) and reduced Chairman’s costs (£10k). 

• Software related costs to support remote meetings £4k adverse movement. 

• Other Democratic Representation savings £2k 

• Unachieved Procurement savings £128k 
 

17. HR (£25k) favourable. 

• Apprentice posts not recruited during the year. 
 

18. ICT and Customer Services (£65k) favourable. 

• (£36k) saving on software licences. 

• Savings on server maintenance £27k and unspent professional fees budget £45k 

• Overspend on employee training costs £5k. 

• Unbudgeted costs of new Payroll system £30k and extension of Internet Management 
Solution contract £11k. 

 
19. Environmental Health Consultancy £21k pressure. 

• £21k Reduction in income & associated costs, as a result of no live course delivery. 
 

Corporate Financing 
 
20. Investment Income £137k pressure - Markets rates have reduced since budget setting as 

result of external economic factors. 
 

21. Decrease in Impairment allowance (£26k) reduced provision - The provision for bad debt 
has been reviewed on the basis of better than anticipated performance of historic overpaid 
housing benefits. The review has resulted in removing the need for the budgeted (£26k) 
contribution to bad debt provision. 

 
22. Savings Requirement £0.931m pressure - As a result of the economic impact of COVID-19 

there has been a delay to our efficiencies programme, revised plans and options have been 
developed for 2021/22. Savings achieved include Environmental Services operations £62k and 
Business Rates Rebate on Public Conveniences (£14k). 

 
23. Government Grants £8k favourable - The Council has received grant in continued support of 

the corporate wide requirement to meet the requirements of transparency new burdens. 
 

24. Local Authority COVID Support Grant £1.746m favourable - The Council has received 
COVID support grant of £1.340m in order to support additional costs associated with the COVID 
response. Sales, Fees and Charges income compensation has been received of £0.407m 

  

Page 22



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 7 of 25 

 
Section 2 – Housing Revenue Account 

Table 2 – Forecast Revenue Outturn  
 

 
Notes to Table 2: 
 
1. Charges for Services and Facilities (£27k) favourable 

• Service Charge income favourable variance of (£24k), mainly Sheltered Housing Charges 
which are under review in 2021/22 

• Guest Rooms income (£3k) following usage for homeless during Covid crisis. 

• Two Land Easements income (£16k) not known at time of budget 

• Reduction in Lifeline service income of £15k in line with year to date actuals and prior year 
outturn. 
 

2. Contributions to Expenditure £21k pressure 

• Court Income £27k did not materialise due to limitations on taking tenants to court during 
Covid, but is  offset by a reduction in legal costs in Supervision and management 
 

3. Repairs and Maintenance (£639k) favourable 

Service Area 

N
o

te
 Budget 

£'000 
Actual  
£'000 

Variance 
Pressure / 

(Favourable)  
£'000 

 
Rent Income – Dwellings 

  
(15,049) 

 
(15,066) 

 
(17) 

Charges for Services and Facilities 1 (1,176) (1,203) (27) 
Contributions to Expenditure 2 (27) (6) 21 

Total Income  (16,252) (16,275) (23) 

     
Repairs and Maintenance 3 2,894 2,255 (639) 
Supervision and Management 4 3,079 2,871 (208) 
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 5 76 61 (15) 
Depreciation 6 3,236 3,816 580 

Movement in the allowance for bad debts 
7 
 

271 18 (253) 

Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 

 8 1,962 1,967 5 

Total Expenditure  11,518 10,988 (530) 

      

Contribution from Operations  (4,734) (5,287) (553) 
     
Investment Income 8 (161) (79) 82 

Interest Payable on £67.456m 
 
 

2,347 2,347 - 

Capital expenditure charged in year  - - - 
Transfer to MRR & Other Adjustments  -   
      

Net (Surplus)/Deficit  (2,548) (3,019) (471) 

Page 23



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 8 of 25 

• General Maintenance spend is significantly down on budget (£346k), there have been a 
number of factors impacting the spend within the Housing Repairs service during 2020/21. 
New contracts have continued to deliver savings on both materials and from contractors. 
There have also been additional savings from reduced reliance on vehicle hire, following 
the delivery of the new fleet of housing repairs vehicles. In addition, there has been some 
periods where only emergency repairs have been attended in order to comply with 
lockdown requirements.  

• Other contractor fees have not been incurred as a result of limiting activity to emergency 
repairs (£46k) 

• Savings on Staff Travel due to Covid (£12k) 

• Vehicle costs (Fuel and Repairs) are (£11k) less than budget due to lower mileage during 
Covid lockdown. 

• Further savings have been achieved on council Tax (£3k) (included in Operational 
buildings apportionment), Telephones (£13k), Cleaning (£2k) Stationery (£2k) Clothing 
(£3k). 

• £153k of Renewable Heat Incentive Grant income.  
 

4. Supervision and Management £208k favourable 

• Overspends on: 
i. Covid safety measures and cleaning for Sheltered Housing communal 

areas £20k, Covid Security Costs for Sheltered Housing £38k, printing 
and distribution costs of Covid notices £4k. 

ii. Language Line translation services £13k,  
iii. Pooling Audit £5k   
iv. Employee Costs £75k – Housing Enabling team growth £12k and Salary 

Efficiencies not achieved £15k 
v. Insurance Costs £19k 
vi. Sewage Treatment works repairs £10k 
vii. Year End Valuation Fees £10k 
viii. Spend of Covid Hardship Fund to support Housing Services Tenancy 

Sustainability Policy £4k  
ix. Accommodation Costs for tenants £16k 
x. PSPS IT Transformation £31k one off revenue expenditure. 
xi. Manpower Costs £14k Housing Enabling, £11k Salary efficiency targets 

not met 
xii. Right to Buy admin Fee income less than expected due to lower than 

anticipated R-T-B Sales £8k 

• Underspends on: 
i. Tenant Participation Costs (£12k) 
ii. Repairs (£85k) - £54k works completed within HRT budget and therefore 

budget not needed in 2020/21. Savings on Community Facilities (£25k) as a 
result of only essential work being performed during lockdown periods. 
Footpath works delayed for further review (£14k). 

iii. Alarm Monitoring Costs (£36k) – later than anticipated contract increase and 
conservative cost budget 

iv. Legal Fees £22k see income in 2 above. 
v. Reduced staff travel costs (£15k) 
vi. Reduced spend on subscriptions (£12k) 

Page 24



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 9 of 25 

vii. Reduced spend on staff training (£58k) as a result of cancellations due to Covid 
restrictions. 

viii. Utilities – Forecast in line with last year and actuals to date (£33k) 
ix. Project Management Income, slightly higher than anticipate due to rephasing 

of spend on capital projects £6k 
x. Bank Charges £4k 
xi. Contingency budget for Professional fees £104k not required in 2020/21. 

 
5. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£15k) favourable 

• Spend contained within Operational Building Budget and therefore budget nor required 
in 2020/21 
 

6. Depreciation £580k pressure – Calculated annually based upon latest Revaluations. 
 

7. Movement in Allowance for Bad Debts £253k favourable – Revised calculations based 
upon outstanding Debt as at 31st March 2021 

 
8. Interest and Investment Income £81k reduction in Income 

• Markets rates have reduced since budget setting as result of external economic factors. 
 
 

Page 25



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 10 of 25 

Section 3 – Reserves 
 

Table 3 - General Fund Reserves 
The below table has been updated from quarter 2 to adopt the decision by Council at its meeting 23rd September 2020 to re-assign 
£234k to earmarked reserves from other specific reserves. 

 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Contra 
movement 
between 
Reserves 
(Revenue) 

£’000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 

Transformation (141) 0 26 44 0 (71) Capital Spend 
£22k Office 365; £4k Shared Public 
Protection Software 
Revenue Spend 
£5k EHC Apprentice; £23k Interim O365 
Programme Manager; £16k Shared 
National Graduate Trainee 

Investment and 
Growth 

(5,263) (1,195) 1,283 597  89 (4,489) Contributions 
(£52k) Garden Waste; (£4k) Fleet 
Maintenance; (£29k) Leisure 
Management Return; (£1,067k) New 
Homes Bonus; (£43k) Food Enterprise 
Zone. 
Capital Spend 
£9k Leisure Sports Hall Boiler; £31k 
Environmental Services Asset 
Replacement Program; £38k Green 
Waste Bins; £9k Industrial Unit repairs – 
Crease Drove; £51k Priory Road Air 
Conditioning Works; £47k PSPS 
Transformation Investment, £1,099k 
Food Enterprise Zone. 
Revenue Spend 

P
age 26



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 11 of 25 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Contra 
movement 
between 
Reserves 
(Revenue) 

£’000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 

£23k Temporary Housing Resource; 
£15k Refuse Collection Efficiency 
Programme; £20k Leisure Centre 
Maintenance; £14k Moulton Park; £56k 
Delivery Unit Project Management; 
£120k Delivery Unit Contribution; £78k 
Holbeach Asset Feasibility; £173k Digital 
Strategy; £20k Holbeach Electricity 
Infrastructure; £1k Kings Road; £5k 
Programme Management Resource; 
£22k External Grants Officer; £2k Priory 
Road Accommodation; £17k Next Steps 
Accommodation Program. £31k Town 
Centre Improvement Plan employee 
funding. 
Contra Movement 
£89k Planning Development 
Management. 

Earmarked Grants (453) (4,558) 122 57 (233) (5,065) Contributions 
(£54k) Members Budgets; (£189k) New 
Burdens Income; (£86k) Brexit 
administration Grant; (£4,005k) Tax 
Income Guarantee; (£100k) Planning fee; 
(£8k) Earmarked S106 income; (£60k) 
Covid Support Grant Public Protection; 
(£55k) Employee Training Budget. 
Capital Spend 
£122k Next Steps Accommodation 
Acquisitions. 

P
age 27



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 12 of 25 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Contra 
movement 
between 
Reserves 
(Revenue) 

£’000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 

Revenue Spend 
£2k Spalding Special Asset Works; £4k 
Planning Employee Training; £51k 
Planning HCA Resource. 
Contra Movement 
Transfers to earmarked reserves (£129k) 
Spalding Special; (£90k) Planning: (£5k) 
Public Protection Equipment 
Replacement: (£10k) NDR Leisure 
saving. 

P
age 28



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 13 of 25 

 

 
 
 
Reserve 

Balance 
31/03/2020 

£'000 

Transfer to 
Reserve 

(Contributions) 
£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Capital) 

£'000 

Transfer 
from 

Reserve  
(Revenue) 

£'000 

Contra 
movement 
between 
Reserves 
(Revenue) 

£’000 

Balance  
31/03/2021 

£'000 Transfer details 

Council Tax (2,060) (173) 40 445 129 (1,619) Contributions 
(£40k) District Elections; (£9k) 
Equipment Replacement Programme; 
(£125k) 2020/21 GF Surplus. 
Capital Spend 
£40k Pride – Gladiator.  
Revenue Spend 
£10k Public Protection Monitoring 
Equipment; £430k NNDR Deficit 
Funding; £5k Income Management 
Software Upgrade. 
Contra Movement 
£129k Spalding Special. 

Replacement and 
Refurbishment 

(95) (136) 0 45 15 (171) Contributions  
(£136k) Revenue Contribution - 
Programmed Property Maintenance. 
Revenue Spend 
£38k Programmed Property 
Maintenance; £7k Condition Surveys. 
Contra movement 
£5k Public Protection Equipment 
Replacement; £10k NDR Leisure 
Savings. 

Total Specific GF 
Reserves 

(8,012) (6,062) 1,471 1,188 0 (11,415) 
  

General Reserve (2,078) 0 0 0 0 (2,078)   

    
 

  
 

     

Total Reserves (10,090) (6,062) 1,471 1,188 0 (13,493)   

P
age 29



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 14 of 25 

 
 

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves 

  Balance  
31 March 

2020 
£’000 

 
Contributions 

to Reserve 
£’000 

 
Use of 

Reserve 
£’000 

Balance  
31 March 

2021 
£’000 

 
Comments 

        
       

HRA Working Balance:  (19,809) (3,017) - (22,826) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve 
        
HRA Insurance Reserve (200) - - (200)  
      
Major Repairs Reserve (3,586) (3,816) 3,046 (4,356) HRA depreciation contribution to 

MRR is used to fund the capital 
programme in future years.  The 
transfer from MRR in-year was used 
to fund 2020/21 capital programme 
spend 

      

   (23,595) (6,833) 3,046 (27,382)  

        

P
age 30



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 15 of 25 

 
Section 4 – Capital 

 
The Q3 Outturn presented at February 2021 Cabinet showed budgeted expenditure of £4,307m, the 
following items have been revised since that report:      
 
Table 5 – General Fund Capital Programme movements 

 Movement 
£’000 

 2020/21 Capital Programme Budget as at 31st December 2020 4,307 

Movements from previous forecast  

NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Grant Funded 289 

NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Matched Funding 400 

NSAP Homeless Accommodation – Capital Acquisition re Growth and 
Commercialisation – Budget Virement 

(400) 

Office 365 Additional Spend – Budget Virement 20 

ICT Infrastructure – Budget Virement (20) 

Crease Drove – Reprofiled from 2022/23 9 

Garden Waste – Reprofile Budget from 2021/22 28 

Housing Infrastructure Funding (SWRR) 3,863 

Welland Homes – Reprofile Budget from 2021/22 725 

TOTAL 4,914 

2020/21 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st March 2021 9,221 

 
Table 6 – General Fund Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 

Scheme 

N
o

te
s
 

2020/21 
Revised 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

 (Under) / 
Over 

Spend 

   £000's £000's £000's 

ICT 
 

      

ICT Infrastructure  101 - (101) 

Shared Public Protection Software  21 9 (12) 

Office 365 Additional Spend  22 22 - 

PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF  144 46 (98) 

AIM Upgrade  20 - (20) 

Total ICT 
1 

308 77 (231) 

Assets and Property 
 

      

Priory Road - Central Heating  68 51 (17) 

Priory Road Ventilation Project  83 79 (4) 

Priory Road - Fire Doors and Access  17 - (17) 

South Holland Centre  16 - (16) 

South Holland Centre Emergency Lighting  43 - (43) 

Castle Sports Boiler - Wetside  50 9 (41) 

Industrial Units - Roof replacement   7 - (7) 

Total Assets & Property 
2 

284 139 (145) 

Commercialisation 
 

      

Page 31



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 16 of 25 

Scheme 

N
o

te
s

 

2020/21 
Revised 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

 (Under) / 
Over 

Spend 

   £000's £000's £000's 

Capital Acquisition (Growth & 
Commercialisation) 

 
600 - (600) 

Electric Vehicle Charging  21 - (21) 

NSAP Homeless Accommodation  689 315 (374) 

Total Commercialisation 
3 

1,310 315 (995) 

Economic Development 
 

      

Crease Drove Industrial Units  9 9 - 

Grants for Growth  581 580 (1) 

Food Enterprise Zone  1,100 1,098 (2) 

Housing Infrastructure Fund (SWRR)  3,863 3,863 - 

Total Economic Development 
 

5,553 5,550 (3) 

Environmental Services 
 

      

Garden Waste  38 38 - 

Grounds Maintenance  36 31 (5) 

Environmental Services Operational  225 142 (83) 

Fleet Maintenance Vehicles   7 - (7) 

Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine  40 40 - 

Total Environmental Services  
4 

346 251 (95) 

Housing  
 

      

Disabled Facilities Grants - Private Sector 
Housing 

 
585 541 (44) 

Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair - Housing  75 - (75) 

Welland Homes  760 760 - 

Total Housing 
5 

1,420 1,301 (119) 

Total 
 

9,221 7,633 1,588 

Financing of Approved Schemes 
 

      

Internal Borrowing  (1,585) (901) 684 

Capital Receipts  - - - 

Grants & Contributions  (5,423) (5,261) 162 

Direct Revenue Financing  (2,213) (1,471) 742 

Total Financing of Approved Schemes 
 

(9,221) (7,633) 1,588 

 
Notes to Table 6: 
1. ICT (£231k) - Delays to ICT Infrastructure and PSPS Transformation, resources and focus 

were diverted to business continuity during lockdown. Balance to be carried forward to 
2021/22. 
 

2. Assets & Property (£145k) – Works postponed on Priory Road and South Holland Centre, 
whilst premises predominantly vacant. Both to be reviewed and carried forward into 2021/22. 

 

Page 32



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 17 of 25 

 
 

3. Commercialisation (£995k) – £600k capital acquisition budget rolled forward to 2020/21. Two 
of the three Next Steps Accommodation Program properties purchased in the year. The third 
one was purchased early 2021/22, and all of the conversion work of these properties will also 
fall into 2021/22. 
 

4. Environmental Services (£95k) – Funding to be rolled forward for vehicles due in 2021/22 
(£95k).  
 

5. Housing (£119k) – Small Underspend on Disabled Facilities grants (£44k) and no demand for 
Unfit or Disrepair Homes (£75k). £725k budget re-profile for Welland Homes Loan is due to 
units at Tony Worth Close Holbeach being completed on 30th March, but budgeted for 2021/22 

  
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 7 and is recommended for approval by Full 
Council.   
 
Table 7 – General Fund Capital Programme Revised 2021/22 

 
 
Project 

 
Original 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

 
Budget  

c/f 
2020/21 
£’000 

 
Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

ICT Infrastructure 84 101 185 
Shared Public Protection Software 34 12 46 
PSPS Transformation Investment 60% GF 15 98 113 
AIM Upgrade - 20 20 
Priory Road – Atrium Heating 30 - 30 
Priory Road - Air Conditioning / Cent Heating - 17 17 
Priory Road – Ventilation Project - 4 4 
Priory Road – Hardwood Sash Windows 87 - 87 
Priory Road – Fire Doors & Access - 17 17 
South Holland Centre 12 16 28 
South Holland Centre Emerg. Lighting - 43 43 
Castle sports Boiler - Dryside 50  50 
Castle Sports Boiler - Wetside 50 41 91 
Ayscoughfee Hall Lighting 53 - 53 
Ayscoughfee Hall – Cat 1 and 2 Elec. Works 75 - 75 
Ayscoughfee Hall – Emergency Lighting 18 - 18 
Temp. Accom.  Replace Major Components 29 - 29 
Industrial Units Roof Replacement 93 7 100 
Industrial Units Development of Compound 50 - 50 
Capital Acquisitions re Growth & 
Commercialisation 

 
500 

 
600 

 
1,100 

NSAP Homelessness Properties - 374 374 
Electric Vehicle Charging - 21 21 
Food Enterprise Zone - 2 2 
Grants for Growth 565 - 565 
HIF Funding 1,000 - 1,000 
Garden Waste Equipment 29 (28) 1 
Garden Waste Vehicles 184 - 184 
Grounds Maintenance 37 5 42 
Environmental Services Operational 1,091 83 1,174 

Page 33



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 18 of 25 

 
 
Project 

 
Original 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

 
Budget  

c/f 
2020/21 
£’000 

 
Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Fleet Maintenance Vehicles  62 7 69 
Street Cleaning Vehicle 35 - 35 
Disabled Facilities Grants – Private sector 681 44 725 
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 - 75 
Welland Homes 1,912 (725) 1,187 

Total Approved Schemes 6,851 759 7,610 

    
Financed By:    
Capital Receipts - - - 
Capital Grants and Contributions (1,338) (166) (1,601) 
Internal Borrowing (4,687) 42 (4,645) 
Revenue Resources (826) (635) (1,364) 

 (6,851) (759) (7,610)  
   

 
 

HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 
 

The Q3 Outturn presented at February Cabinet showed budgeted expenditure of £6,371m. There 
have been changes to items in the program. 
     
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 9 and is recommended for approval by Full 
Council.   
 
Table 8 – HRA Capital Programme movements 

 Movement 
£’000 

 2020/21 Capital Programme Budget as at 31st December 2020 6,371 

Movements from previous forecast  

Grounds Maintenance Equipment – Reprofile Budget 2021/22 6 

Electrical Upgrade – Budget Virement 23 

Flat Entrance Doors – Budget Virement 7 

Paths and Driveways – Budget Virement 26 

Roofs & Gutters – Budget Virement (56) 

TOTAL 6 

2020/21 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st March 2021 6,377 

 
Table 9 – HRA Progress against 2020/21 approved capital programme 

Scheme 

N
o

te
s
 Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

 (under) / 
Over Spend 

   £000's £000's £000's 

Decent Homes        

Central Heating  870 864 (6) 

Kitchen / Bathroom  1,000 975 (25) 

Page 34



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 19 of 25 

Scheme 

N
o

te
s

 Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

 (under) / 
Over Spend 

   £000's £000's £000's 

Electrical Upgrade   98 98 - 

Smoke Alarms  75 - (75) 

Roofs and Gutters  444 309 (135) 

Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes  7 7 - 

Chimneys  150 9 (141) 

Paths and Drives  56 56 - 

Boundary Walls  95 - (95) 

Fees  210 210 - 

Total Decent Homes 
1 

3,005 2,528 (477) 

Major Area schemes 
 

      

Sewage Treatment Refurbishment  225 - (225) 

The Square  200 - (200) 

Car Parks  50 - (50) 

Total Major Area schemes 
2 

475 - (475) 

IT / System  
 

      

ICT Strategy  123 - (123) 

Housing IT Systems  87 59 (28) 

ICT Infrastructure  6 - (6) 

Total IT / System  
3 

216 59 (157) 

Aids & Adaptations 
 

      

Major Adaptations  486 441 (45) 

Total Aids & Adaptations 
4 

486 441 (45) 

Grounds Maintenance 
 

      

Grounds Maintenance Equipment  19 19 - 

Total Grounds Maintenance 
 

19 19 - 

Affordable Housing 
 

      

Weston Redevelopment Scheme  1,526 1,258 (268) 

Purchase of units  15 - (15) 

Purchase of Open Market Properties  10 - (10) 

Wignals Gate S106 Acquisitions  610 607 (3) 

Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval  15 - (15) 

Total Affordable Housing 
5 

2,176 1,865 (311) 

Total 
 

6,377 4,912 (1,465) 

         

Financing of Approved Schemes 
 

      

1-4-1 Receipts  (33) (32) 1 

Capital Receipts  (1,210) (1,210) - 

Shared Ownership Sales Proceeds  (587) (434) 153 

Page 35



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 20 of 25 

Scheme 

N
o

te
s

 Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

 (under) / 
Over Spend 

   £000's £000's £000's 

Grants & Contributions  (190) (190) - 

Major Repairs Reserve  (4,357) (3,046) 1,311 

Direct Revenue Financing  - - - 

Total Financing of Approved Schemes 
 

(6,377) (4,912) 1,465 

 
 
Notes to Table 9: 
 

1. Decent Homes All Elements (£477k)  
Work was paused during period of Covid lockdown and emergency works 
undertaken only during those periods.  

 
2. Major Area Schemes (£475k) – Similar to Decent Homes above, the covid 

lockdowns had a severe impact and no work was completed on these 
projects, as resource was diverted to more critical items 
 

3. IT Systems (£157k) - Delays to ICT Infrastructure and PSPS Transformation, 
resources and focus were diverted to business continuity during lockdown. 
The Northgate Housing project is on track, but stage payments are later than 
expected.  Balance to be carried forward to 2021/22. 
 

4. Aids and Adaptations (£45k) – Resources refocussed on emergency works 
during periods of lockdown. 
 

5. Affordable Housing (£311k). 
a. Weston Redevelopment Scheme (£268k) – This project has been completed, with 

only retentions and minor contingency items due in 2021/22. Balance to be carried 
forward to 2021/22. 

b. Purchase of Units (£15k) – This is specific to purchase of units which were 
completed in 2019/20, with only Clerk of Work fees to pay. This will be carried 
forward into schemes subject to approval. 

c. Purchase of Open Market Properties (£10k) - This to the purchase of open market 
properties completed in 2019/20, with only Clerk of Works fees to pay.  This will be 
carried forward into schemes subject to approval. 

d. Wignals Gate S106 Acquisition – The first tranche was completed during the year, 
with further tranches expected in 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

 
As a result of the 2020/21 project activity to the 31 March 2021, it is proposed that the Capital 
Programme for 2021/22 is updated as follows in Table 10 and is recommended for approval by 
Full Council. 
Table 9 - HRA Capital Programme Revised 2021/22 

 
 
Project 

Original 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Budget 
c/f 

2020/21 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Central Heating Upgrade 936 6 942 
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,466 25 1,491 
Decent Homes components - - - 

Page 36



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 21 of 25 

 
 
Project 

Original 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Budget 
c/f 

2020/21 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Gutters - - - 
Smoke Alarms  133 75 208 
Roofs & Gutters 825 135 960 
Doors & Windows 7 - 7 
Flat Entrance Doors - Sheltered Schemes 530 - 530 
Chimneys 391 141 532 
Paths & Drives 43 - 43 
Boundary Walls  174 95 269 
Fees 233 - 233 

Decent Homes 4,738 477 5,215 
    
Sewerage Treatment Plant 208 225 433 
The Square 811 200 1,011 
Car Parks 67 50 117 

Major Area Schemes 1,086 475 1,561 
    
ICT Strategy 25 123 148 
Housing IT Systems Upgrade 152 28 180 
CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA - 6 6 
ICT Infrastructure - - - 

IT/System 177 157 334 
    
Major Adaptions 398 - 398 

Aids & Adaptions 398 - 398 
    
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade 690 - 690 

Sheltered Alarm Upgrade 690 - 690 
    
HRT Vehicle Replacement 50 - 50 

HRT Vehicle Replacement 50 - 50 
    
Grounds Maintenance 13 (6) 7 
South Holland Maintenance 65 - 65 

Environmental Services 78 (6) 72 
    
Weston Redevelopment – Small Drove 87 268 355 
Wignals Gate S106 552 3 555 
Schemes Subject to Detailed Approval 4,067 40 4,107 

Affordable Housing 4,706 311 5,017 
    

Total Approved Schemes 11,923 1,414 13,337 

    

Financed By:    

1-4-1 Receipts (1,091)  (1,091) 

Capital Receipts (744) - (744) 

Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds (891) - (891) 

Grants and Contributions - - - 

Direct Revenue Funding (3,403) - (3,403) 

Major Repairs Reserve (5,794) (1,414) (7,208) 

Page 37



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 22 of 25 

 
 
Project 

Original 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Budget 
c/f 

2020/21 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2021/22 
£’000 

Total Financing of Approved Schemes (11,923) (1,414) (13,337) 

Page 38



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 23 of 25 

 
Section 5 – Treasury 
 
Security 
 
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to monitor 
the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions 
change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group which provides a 
maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating calculated for each financial 
institution. 
 
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the time 
the investment was made.   
 
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties 
excluding accrued interest.  
  

 
 
Cash 
The Council’s average level of treasury deposits to 31st March 2021 was £50.66m and non-treasury 
deposits was £4.88m based on cost. 
 
As at 31st March 2021 investments held were £50.7m of which £8.5m was instant access cash 
available to meet cash flow requirements.  Other investments based on fair value were made up of: 
  

Page 39



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 24 of 25 

 
£29.5m - Short Term Investments up to 12 Months 
£5.0m – 95 Day Notice Account 
£2.9m - Welland Homes Equity 
£1.1m – South Holland Homes Equity 
£3.7m - Welland Homes Loans (Long Term Debtor)  

 
The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity. 
 

 
 
Yield 
 
Budgeted Interest 2020/21                  £544k (£383k GF and £161k HRA) 
Actual Interest achieved to 31/03/21 £325k (£246k GF and £79k HRA). 
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.015% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2020/21  0.603% 
Actual Yield achieved for 2019/20  1.122% 
 
The COVID19 pandemic has seen interest rates in the market fall during the financial year due to 
financial institutions having access to cheap funds from the Bank of England. Also rates have been 
lower in the markets due to local authorities receiving large amounts of COVID grant funding which 
has supported their cash flow positions and resulted in a lower borrowing requirement. 
 
Below is an indication of the levels achievable on new investments with financial institutions: 
 

1 Month  0.05% 
3 Month  0.09% 
6 Month  0.12% 
1 Year     0.15% 

  

Page 40



Appendix A – Outturn Detail as at Quarter 4 2020/21 

Page 25 of 25 

 
External Borrowing 
 
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations under 
the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years on a maturity 
basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the financial year. 
 
For reference purposes, the following chart shows the PWLB borrowing rates for new loans during the 
financial year.   
 
 

 
 
PWLB borrowing rates were reduced by 1% on 26 November 2020 following the consultation on 
PWLB borrowing. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies, Partnerships and Assistant Director 

Finance 

  

 

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 7 September 2021  

 

(Author: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits) 

 

Subject Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 - Consultation 

 

Purpose: To consider options for the local Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23 

 

 
Recommendation: That Cabinet approves consultation on the following: - 
 
1) Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with 

DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2022/23. 
 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Each year the Council is required to consider whether to review its local Council Tax 

Support (CTS) scheme.   This report advises Cabinet about the conclusion of the 2021 

annual review and the resultant proposals for consultation in respect of the 2022/23 

scheme. 

 

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 

approve a local Council Tax Support scheme.  Regulations include protection for 

pensioners but allow Councils to make changes in the way that support is calculated for 

working age claimants. 

 

1.3 Where Councils seek to amend their scheme, it is necessary to consult major preceptors 

and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design. 

 

1.4 The current South Holland scheme provides a maximum amount of 70% support for 

working age claimants.  It protects War Pensioners, and, from 2019/20, a new class was 

introduced for Care Leavers aged 18-21.  

 

1.5 A number of changes have been introduced in recent years, summarised below for 

information: - 

 

• Second Adult Rebate has been removed (introduced 2017/18) 

• A minimum level of Council Tax Support at £5 per week (introduced 2017/18) 

• Non-dependant deductions increased by 10% (introduced 2017/18) 

• Council Tax Support restricted to Band D Council Tax Liability (introduced 2017/18) 

• Capital Limit reduced to £8,000 (introduced 2017/18) 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8.



• Lower capital threshold reduced to £3,000 (introduced 2017/18) 

• Remove family premium from new claims made (introduced 2017/18) 

• Backdating reduced to 1 month (introduced 2017/18) 

• Care Leavers as a class in the scheme (introduced 2019/20) 

• UC claims are automatically classed as claims for CTS, removing requirement for a 

separate CTS claim (introduced 2020/21) 

• UC earnings tolerance rule of £15 per week (£65 month) (introduced 2020/21) 

• Backdating for working age up to 3 months (reintroduced 2021/22) 

 

 

1.1 FUNDING THE COUNCIL TAX SCHEME 
 

1.2 In 2013/14, the amount of Government grant available to meet the cost of any support was 
reduced by approximately 10% nationally, although at a local level this equated to an 
11.4% cut.  From 2014/15 the Government grant has been subsumed within the Revenues 
Support Grant (RSG) and is not separately identifiable.  

 

1.3 At 31 May 2021 the amount of CTS discount awarded for 2021/22 was £4,438,106.  This 
reflects the increased CTS take-up as a result of the COVID-19 impact.  The following table 
demonstrates how scheme expenditure has changed over the past four years. 
 

Year Cost of CTS scheme £ 
Difference between 

years 

2017/18 4,026,206   

2018/19 3,971,364 98.64% 

2019/20 4,013,820 101.07% 

2020/21 4,309,431 107.36% 

2021/22 (@ 31/05/21) 4,438,106 102.99% 

 
1.4 It remains difficult to forecast caseload and expenditure with any degree of certainty in the 

current economic climate, not least with the potential for further job losses when the 
furlough scheme ends.    
 

1.5 The table below shows the profile of Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure as at 
May 2021.  The cost to South Holland being approximately £452,687 (10.2%). 

 Total Claims Percentage 2021/22 CTS 
Expenditure 

All Groups 5,287  4,438,106 

Elderly 2,701 51.1% 2,588,629 

Working Age 2,586 48.9% 1,849,477 

 

 

2.3  2021/22 is the ninth year of the local Council Tax Support scheme.  The following table 

compares in-year collection rates since introduction of the changes in 2013/14.  (2012/13 

in-year collection performance is also shown for information).  Over this period, the level of 

support provided to working age claimants has reduced from 91.5% in 2013/14 to 75% in 

2014/15 and then 70% from 2017/18.   

Page 44



 

Date Collectable Debit In-Year Collection Rate 

2012/13 £35.4m 97.90% 

2013/14 £36.7m 97.94% 

2014/15 £37.8m 97.86% 

2015/16 £39.1m 98.05% 

2016/17 £41.1m 98.19% 

2017/18 £43.3m 98.06% 

2018/19 £46.2m 97.83% 

2019/20 £48.5m 97.63% 

2020/21 £51.5m 96.91% 

2.4  In-year collection rate as a percentage in 2020/21 was impacted by Covid, however over 

£1.4million more Council Tax was collected.  

2.4 Collection and recovery have been impacted as a result of the pandemic.  There was a ‘soft’ 
approach to recovery in the first half of 2020/21 with statutory processes recommencing in 
the second half of the year.  More arrears have been carried into 2021/22 however usual 
processes are now back in place to catch up, including the re-opening of courts for Liability 
Orders.   Whilst recovery and collection continue beyond the end of the year in question, the 
prospect of recovery reduces. A provision for bad debt has been made.   

2.5 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 and subsequent regulations granted billing 
authorities greater discretion over discounts and exemptions for certain categories of empty 
dwelling from 1st April 2013.  

2.6 Changes, decided by Council in January 2013, were introduced from 1st April 2013 to 

increase the council tax base and potential revenue to help fill the funding gap arising from 

the cut to grant in respect of CTS.  Following a resolution by Council, from 1 April 2019, a 

premium Council Tax is charged on dwellings which are empty, unoccupied and unfurnished 

for more than 2 years. 

 

 

3.0 ESTABLISHING A COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME FOR 2022/23 

 

3.1 For each financial year, the billing authority must consider whether to revise its scheme or 

replace it with another scheme.  Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed mid-year. 

3.2 The Local Government Finance Act requires that before a scheme can be adopted by the 

billing authority, it must (in the following order): - 

• Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it, 

• Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

• Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the operation 
of the scheme. 

3.3 Each year since its introduction, as part of its decision-making process for the forthcoming 

year, the Council has resolved to uprate its scheme in line with Department for Work and 

Pensions (DWP) annual update of allowances and premiums for Housing Benefit.  Full 

Council agreed at its meeting on 22 January 2020 that the decision for 2020/21 would also 

apply to future years.  The 2022/23 DWP revisions could therefore be applied to SHDC’s 

2022/23 scheme without a further decision being necessary.    

Page 45



 

3.4 The unprecedented position as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic presents financial impacts 

on both the council and its residents.  The current Council Tax Support scheme is familiar to 

our customers and is relatively stable.  It is considered that this is not the right time to make 

fundamental changes, and indeed maintaining the current scheme for 2022/23 would help 

those working age claimants maintain consistency at a time when they may be facing other 

personal and financial changes and challenges.  Also, any scheme modelling and forecasting 

at this time using current data and information would be unlikely to provide a reliable picture 

of the longer-term claimant profile and caseload. 

 

 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Recommended – No change. Consult on proposal to retain the current scheme, updated in 

line with DWP uprating’s for 2022/23. 

 

2.2 Do nothing – retain the current scheme without uprating. 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The recommendation will continue to align the CTS scheme and uprating for working age 

customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit and the CTS scheme for pensioners.  

This has been consistent each year since the introduction of local Council Tax Support 

schemes. 

 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 This will provide continuity for working age claimants, maintaining current levels of support. 

 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

 

5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

5.1.1 There are no legal implications as this report relates to consultation. 

 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

5.2.1 The existing Council Tax Support scheme continues to be delivered on the basis of the 

DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme regarding protection for vulnerable groups, 

including children and the disabled.  An equality impact assessment is not considered 

Page 46



necessary at this time. 

 

5.3 Financial 

5.3.1 The proposals for consultation in this report would not significantly affect the cost of the 

current scheme.  However, CTS is demand led, and if caseload increases then expenditure 

would increase.  The cost of the scheme is shared with major preceptors as it forms part of 

the collection fund. 

 

5.4 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

5.4.1 Consultation will be carried out if Cabinet agree the recommendation.   

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

CTS – Council Tax Support 

RSG – Revenue Support Grant 

DWP – Department for Work and Pensions 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Telephone Number  

Email: Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

None 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies, Partnerships and Executive Director 

(Strategy and Resources) (S151) 

  

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 7 September 2021  

 

(Author: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits) 

 

Subject Debt Write Off 

 

Purpose: To seek approval for the write-off of uncollectable debt. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That updates on the Covid impact and Breathing Space are noted. 

 
2) That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write off. 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Efficient and well administered debt management is crucial to the Council.  Debt 

Management and Operational Debt Write Off Policies were approved by Cabinet in July 

2017.  Further information about the statutory requirements and processes relating to 

recovery and enforcement of debt was provided at a presentation to Cabinet Members in 

February 2018. 

 

1.2 This is the first report to Cabinet for this financial year and includes debts identified as 

uncollectable. 

 

2.0 COVID-19 IMPACT ON COLLECTION, RECOVERY AND ENFORCEMENT 

 

2.1 The coronavirus pandemic has had an impact on the recovery and enforcement of revenue.  

With households affected by changes in their circumstances, there has been a significant 

increase in Universal Credit claims and a corresponding increase in the take up of Local 

Council Tax Support.  It is anticipated there could be further impacts on households and 

businesses when the furlough scheme ends in September 2021, with the number out of 

work expected to rise. 

 

2.2 Statutory debt recovery processes were severely disrupted in the first half of 2020/21, 

during which time a softer approach to recovery was taken.  Formal processes re-

commenced at the end of August 2020 with first Courts in November 2020.  There was then 

further disruption to the recovery schedule in the final months of 2020/21 when Magistrates 

Courts closed again for Liability Order hearings.  Enforcement Agents were able to 

recommence visits from August 2020 after the lifting of restrictions.  They continue to work 

safely and responsibly in line with Civil Enforcement Association (CIVEA) guidelines.   

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9.



2.3 2020/21 in-year collection rate for Council Tax was 96.91% (being £49,935,415 collected of 

the collectable debit of £51,529,585).  Whilst this was a reduction of 0.72% compared to the 

previous year, this rate of collection is in line with the 96.9% national average for shire 

districts in 2020/21.   

 

2.4  For Business Rates, the in-year collection rate for 2020/21 was 92.46% (being £18,160,210 

collected of the £19,641,642 collectible debit). The collection position for Business Rates in 

2020/21 does not lend itself to a direct comparison against 2019/20 due to the additional 

Covid relief measures introduced by the government which provided many with a business 

rates ‘holiday’.  South Holland’s collection rate for 2020/21 was further impacted by a large 

ratepayer going into Company Voluntary Arrangement (CVA).    

 

2.5  There will be a catch up of recovery processes in this financial year for 2020/21 arrears, as 

well as usual processes for the current year, however the impact on collection and recovery 

due to Covid-19 will be carried into future financial years.   

 

 

3 DEBT RESPITE SCHEME – ‘BREATHING SPACE’ 

 

3.1 The Debt Respite Scheme (Breathing Space Moratorium and Mental Health Crisis 

Moratorium) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 came into effect on 4th May 2021. 

 

3.2 These regulations offer two types of breathing space: - 

i) ‘Standard’, which lasts for 60 days, providing time for the debtor to get debt advice 

and set up a debt solution, and  

ii) ‘Mental Health Crisis’, which has stronger protections and lasts for as long as the 

person’s mental health crisis treatment plus 30 days. 

 

3.3 Access to breathing space is through a qualified debt advisor, and for mental health crisis 

an Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) will first need to certify that the person is 

receiving treatment. 

 

3.4 There are currently 12 debtors in the 60 day ‘standard’ breathing space period, with debt 

totalling £25,696.  Since its introduction in May 2021, South Holland has seen 16 debtors in 

total enter ‘standard’ breathing space with debt totalling £36,653. Once the 60-day period 

has expired debts are no longer subject to the provisions of the legislation, and debtors 

should have been able to find solutions, or the way forward to deal with their debt through 

professional support provided during this period.   

 

3.5 A breakdown of the amount by debt type is shown in the table below for the 16 debtors who 

have so far entered breathing space: - 

 

Council Tax Housing Rent Housing Benefit 
Overpayment 

Total 

£34,136.21 £70.89 £2,446.20 £36,653.30 

 

 

 

4.0 WRITE OFFS FOR CABINET APPROVAL 

 

Page 50



4.1 The need to write off debt can arise for a number of reasons, including debtors being 

untraceable, insolvent, ceased trading with no assets, or deceased with insufficient funds in 

the estate.  All methods of recovery are considered and pursued in line with legislative 

provision, before making the decision to write off.  This can include internal recovery action, 

use of debt enforcement agents, external tracing agents and procedures through the 

Courts.  

 

4.2 Case management has concluded that recovery and enforcement options in respect of the 

debts presented in this report have been considered, and exhausted, and there is no 

prospect of recovery.  Cabinet approval for write off is now requested.   

 

4.3 A summary of these debts is shown in the table below, totalling £17,792.77 (of which the 

indicative loss to South Holland District Council is £10,861).  

 

Reason for Write Off Council Tax Business Rates Housing 

Benefit 

Overpayment 

Total 

Absconder £1,167.17 - - £1,167.17 

Insolvency £4,332.77 £3,322.30 £4,570.13 £12,225.20 

Deceased - - £4,400.40 £4,400.40 

Total £5,499.94 £3,322.30 £8,970.53 £17,792.77 

Indicative loss to 
SHDC 

£560.99 £1,328.92 £8,970.53 10,860.44 

 

4.4 Details of individual debts are shown in confidential Appendices A - C. The reason provided 

for write-off is consistent with the policy approved by Cabinet.  Where applicable, multiple 

debts for a debtor are shown together.   

 

4.5 The Operational Debt Write-Off Policy was approved by Cabinet in July 2017. 

 

4.6 In line with the policy, prior to this report being presented, consultation has taken place with 

the Section 151 Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategies, Partnerships.  

Cabinet Members can therefore be assured that the debts listed are irrecoverable, and that 

write off is the correct course of action. 

 

4.7 All debt approved for write off will be set against existing bad debt provisions and can be 

resurrected in full or in part at any time should new information come to light suggesting 

that they might be recoverable after all.  In all cases collection options have been 

exhausted and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

 

4.8 Delegated Write Offs 

 

4.8.1  The S151 Officer has approved the following debts for write off, which individually are 

below the £1,050 threshold, in 2021/22:    

 

Reason for 
Written Off 

HRA Housing 
Rents Arrears 

General Fund 
Housing Rents 

Arrears 
Total 

 

 
  Amount No.  Amount No.  Amount No.  

Page 51



Deceased     £271.22 6 £271.22 6  

Uncollectable £1,072.28 22 £1,316.99 29 £2,389.27 51  

Uneconomical £20.85 6 £5.03 2 £25.88 8  

Unenforceable £675.19 6 £1,653.27 9 £2,328.46 15  

Total Amount £1,768.32 34 £3,246.51 46 £5,014.83 80  

Indicative loss 
to SHDC 

£1,768.32   £3,246.51   £5,014.83    

 

 

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

5.1 All recovery methods have been considered and where appropriate pursued, before making 

the decision to write off.  Officer time can be maximised on greatest returns, at the same 

time as ensuring robust procedures for debt management are in place across all revenue 

streams. 

 

 

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

6.1 The Council has a clear position in terms of uncollectable debt, and its bad debt position. 

 

 

 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

 

7.1 Financial 

7.1.1 Clear processes for writing off irrecoverable debt represents sound financial management 

practice.  Provision for bad debt is made in Council accounts. 

 

7.2 Risk Management 

7.2.1 By the nature, volume, and value of annual revenue to the council there will always be 

uncollectable amounts which will be recommended for write off once avenues to recover 

are exhausted.  Provision for bad debt is made and reviewed regularly. 

 

 

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

8.1 All 

 

 

9.0 ACRONYMS 

 

9.1 CIVEA – Civil Enforcement Association 

9.2 CVA – Company Voluntary Arrangement 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Page 52



Name and Post: Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Telephone Number  

Email: Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: Y  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Confidential Appendices A-C, attached to this report:  

(Please note that the following appendix is not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 
(Information relating to any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of 
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Council Tax Debts 

Appendix B Business Rates Debts 

Appendix C Housing Benefit Overpayment Debts 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Agenda Item 12.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 57

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 13.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. 2020/2021 Financial Outturn
	Appendix A Financial Outturn

	8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 - Consultation
	9. Debt Write Off
	12. Debt Write Off
	Appendix B Debt Write Offs
	Appendix C Debt Write Offs

	13. Waste Collection Staffing and Critical HGV Driver Shortage
	Appendix A - Restricted Wage Increase
	Appendix B - Draft Timetable and Changes
	Appendix C Equality Impact Assessment


